IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OA 2-9.89

CHARLES L. STOCKTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ing a start of the Byracara \mathbb{O}^{n}

CASE NO. 72,921

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

/

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #197890 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

MISCELLANEOUS	

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701 41

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES L. STOCKTON,	:		
Petitioner,	•		
v.	:		
STATE OF FLORIDA,			
Respondent.	:		
	•		

CASE NO. 72,921

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as <u>Stockton v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 739 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The one volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R", followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. The transcript will be referred to as "T". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by information with second degree murder with a firearm (R 5). The cause proceeded to jury trial on May 30-31, 1985, and at the conclusion thereof, petitioner was found guilty as charged (R 62). Petitioner's timely motion for new trial (R 63-65) included an affidavit of trial counsel, in which he stated that he rendered ineffective assistance of counsel because his closing argument neglected to mention a crucial witness and "served only to emphasize the lack of any coherent defense to the charge." (R 69, paragraph 11 h). The motion was denied by written order filed June 14, 1985 (R 71).

On July 11, 1985, petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to 40 years in prison, which was a departure from the recommended guidelines range of 17-22 years (R 94-98), for which the trial judge gave three written reasons for departure (R 99-100).

Petitioner pursued a timely appeal to the First District. As related by the majority opinion of the lower tribunal:

> Appellant was tried upon the charge of second degree murder with a firearm, and the evidence established that the victim was killed during an altercation involving numerous individuals. Witnesses testified that appellant shot the victim after being heard to say, "I'll kill one of you." Other witnesses presented contradictory testimony. Appellant admitted discharging a firearm, but stated that he merely shot his gun into the air. Appellant also recanted an earlier admission that he had shot the victim.

At the conclusion of the evidence the court indicated to counsel that a time limitation would be imposed for closing argument. Defense counsel requested an

hour, explaining, "I'm not very well prepared." The court limited closing argument to 30 minutes per side, and overruled defense counsel's objection. Appendix at 2.

Judge Zehmer, in dissent, set forth the conflicting testimony, on the crucial issue of whether appellant fired the shot which killed the victim, by quoting extensively from petitioner's initial brief. Appendix at 4-6. Judge Zehmer characterized petitioner's counsel's closing argument as:

> poorly organized and reflect[ing] a manifest lack of of meaningful preparation and intelligible presentation to the jury which was attributable, in substantial part, to defense counsel's haste to cover all the evidence in detail in the limited time given him. Appendix at 7.

On appeal, petitioner argued that the limitation of closing arguments to 30 minutes per side was reversible error, due to the number of witnesses, the severity of the charge and its penalty, the conflicting nature of their testimony on the crucial issue of whether appellant fired the shot which killed the victim, and the length of the testimony. The majority found no reversible error and affirmed. Appendix at 2. In dissent, Judge Zehmer found:

> The only reason for the [30 minute] limitation discernible from this record was the court's expressed desire to accommodate the personal convenience of the jury--they could, if they so elected, finish the case late Friday night and avoid returning to court on Saturday. Because the state requested 45 minutes for argument, and defense counsel requested at least one hour, the court's 30-minute restriction conforming to his previous comment to the jury that closing argument would not "take

more than an hour total" is patently arbitrary. Appendix at 9-10.

Petitioner also argued that the jury should have been reinstructed on justifiable and excusable homicide. As stated by the majority:

> After the jury commenced deliberations it requested a reinstruction on the distinction between second degree and third degree murder. The court advised counsel that it would reinstruct the jury on these offenses, and also on manslaughter. Defense counsel requested a reinstruction on justifiable and excusable homicide, but the court denied this request. The jury was then reinstructed as to second degree murder, third degree murder, and manslaughter. Appendix at 3.

The majority found no reversible error on this point as well. Appendix at 3. Judge Zehmer again dissented, and reasoned:

> Had the trial court deemed that the jury's request could be satisfactorily answered by merely instructing on second and third degree murder, a different question would be presented. Although the specific request was to distinguish between second and third degree murder, ... the trial court undoubtedly determined that the similarity in degree and definition of criminal conduct made it necessary to include reinstruction on manslaughter as well as third degree murder. This was an eminently sound decision in my opinion. But, having made it, the judge also should have given a complete reinstruction on manslaughter. Appendix at 10 (footnote omitted).

Petitioner also argued that the three reasons for depar-

ture were invalid:

 The Sentencing Guidelines recommendation of 17-22 years is insufficient for retribution, deterrence, rehabilitation and for the safety of the public. 2) The Defendant's criminal history all consisting of juvenile records, indicates that a prison term of 17-22 years is inadequate punishment for this Defendant. ... The Defendant's criminal history is set forth in the presentence investigation.

3) The Defendant's possession and ownership of a firearm was an admitted violation of the terms of his California parole and but for this violation the murder would not have occurred. (Appendix at 11 and R 99-100; citations omitted).

The majority of the lower tribunal apparently disapproved reason #1, approved reason #2 and #3, and remanded for resentencing. Appendix at 3. Judge Zehmer dissented in part. He found reason #1 to be invalid, reason #2 to be "legally insufficient as stated", because it considered both scored and unscored juvenile convictions, and reason #3 to be invalid, because it was based upon a finding that petitioner had violated his probation, which was not supported by the record. Appendix at 11.

A timely notice of discretionary review was filed on August 12, 1988, and this Court granted review by order dated November 7, 1988.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidence established that Patrick Statham was killed in the aftermath of a brawl which broke out outside the Joe James Recreation Center, following a party in honor of (but not limited to) the Jacksonville Lee High School football team (T-281-82, 296-98, 328-29, 381, 418-19, 429-32, 467-69, 718, 738-40). The fight was precipitated by an argument which arose over one car blocking another car (T-283, 333-34, 353-57, 606-07, 610-11, 638-40, 718-19, 743-48). At one point in the altercation, petitioner (a non-student) was either shoved or hit by Milton Gordon, a Lee High linebacker (T-287, 300, 303-04, 334-35, 358, 384, 402-03, 470-71, 485-88, 503, 614-18, 622-23, 628-31, 642-44, 662, 670-71, 749-51, 775).

According to several state witnesses, petitioner went back to his car, got a gun, pointed it in the direction of Milton Gordon and Patrick Statham (who were, or may have been, in the process of beating up a boy on the ground), and fired, striking Statham (T-228-90, 293-96, 338-44, 386-89, 421-25, 473-78). According to petitioner and one defense witness, petitioner was not, and could not have been, the person who shot Patrick Statham, because of the positioning of the various participants; if petitioner had fired toward Statham he would have hit one of his own friends (T-645-46, 659, 754-55). Another defense witness testified that he saw Raymond Bell pointing a gun at Statham (T-723-25).

Four state witnesses, Diane Strawbridge, Clarence Frazier, Alonzo Davis, and Milton Gordon, claimed that petitioner fired

the fatal shot (T-289-90, 293, 295-96, 387-89, 414, 423-24, 428, 476-78). A fifth state witness, Arthur Mitchell, saw petitioner pointing the gun, but didn't see him shoot it (T-338). Davis (who said he was as close to petitioner at the time of the shooting as the distance from the witness stand to the jury box (T-423, 442)) claimed that immediately before the shooting petitioner said "I'll kill one of you punks" and then, after the shooting, said "I told you I'd kill one of you punks" (T-423, 428, 442-443). Davis testified that anyone standing as close as he was, and not even necessarily that close, would have heard these statements - "I mean when he said it, he made it clear" (T-442-43). Milton Gordon said he heard petitioner say "I'll kill one of you punks" (T-501); Clarence Frazier said he said, "nigger, I'll kill you" (T-501); and Arthur Mitchell (who said he was about six feet away from petitioner, the distance from the witness stand to the beginning of the jury box (T-342-43)) didn't hear him say anything at all (T-369).

Anywhere from four to eight to a dozen or more people were participants in the fight, which took place in the midst of a crowd of onlookers (T-311, 320-21, 336, 359, 473, 522-23, 534, 538-39, 667, 731, 752). There were apparently a number of people in the vicinity with guns, and there was shooting going on both before and immediately after the shooting of Patrick Statham (T-470, 608-09, 654, 659, 725, 809). Among those with guns were Raymond Bell (T-302, 310, 330, 359-60, 395, 402, 446, 654, 664, 722, 731, 746); Arthur Mitchell's brother (T-808-09); and a short, stocky individual named Charles, referred to as

"New York" (T-583-84, 779, 799-800, 804-11), whom at least one state witness (Clarence Frazier) may have confused with petitioner (T-399, 401, 412-13, see T-659-60, 743-46). The number of gunshots heard at the time Patrick Statham was shot varied from witness to witness -- two (T-310), one (T-377), seven (T-542, 551-53), four or five (T-608, 611), two (T-665-66), one (T-723).

While it is true that several state witnesses (including the aforementioned Clarence Frazier) identified petitioner as the person who shot Patrick Statham, it is also true that several defense witnesses testified otherwise, Trevio Parks saw Raymond Bell pointing a gun in the direction of Patrick Statham, and said you couldn't really tell who shot him (T-723-25). Parks also testified that the day after the shooting, Bell told him that he was the one who had killed the victim (T-816-25). Linda Spivey, petitioner's girlfriend, testified that Raymond Bell hollered out to her that he "killed that MF" but that Charles was going to do the time for it (T-827, 826-39). Ralph Williams testified that petitioner had a gun, but that he could not have been the one who shot Statham because of the positioning of the people involved; if he had fired in Statham's direction "[he] would have hit one of us in the back" (T-645-46, 659). Petitioner testified that he fired into the air; if he had fired straight ahead he would have hit Bubba (Ralph Williams), Peanut, or Aaron (T-754-55).

According to Raymond Bell, petitioner told him (after the shooting but before petitioner's arrest) that if the boy got

shot in the back, he did it, but otherwise he didn't do it (T-815). Petitioner also expressed the same doubt to Detective Eason after his arrest, depending on whether Patrick Statham got shot in the back or in the chest (T-487). During the conversation, Detective Eason led petitioner to believe that the victim was shot in the back, and since petitioner thought he was the only one standing behind him with a gun, he concluded that his shot must have hit him (T-756-57, 769). The medical examiner, Dr. Floro, testified that Patrick Statham was shot in the chest (T-513-14). Now that he was aware of this fact, petitioner testified that he did not shoot Statham (T-757).

There was conflicting evidence as to other material facts as well. Officer Rusty Rogers, who had been called to the scene of the disturbance before the shooting occurred, saw a short black male in a grey sweatshirt raise his arm to the victim's chest level; Rogers then saw a muzzle flash (R-524-25, 536, 545). [Note that defense witness Ralph Williams described the other boy named Charles, or "New York", as being about petitioner's height and wearing a grey shirt (T-660), while state witness Clarence Frazier mistakenly thought petitioner and "New York" were the same person (see T-399, 401, 412-13)]. At least two state witnesses, Arthur Mitchell and Milton Gordon, had testified in deposition that petitioner had his shirt <u>off</u> at the time he was pointing the gun at Statham and Gordon (T-369-71, 492-95), though at trial Mitchell said he "can't recall" whether petitioner still had his shirt off, and

Gordon claimed he wasn't paying attention to that (T-369, 492). Defense witness Ralph Williams testified that the shot that hit Statham could not have been fired by petitioner (T-645-46, 659)and that petitioner still had his shirt off when he (Williams) turned around after the shooting (T-659).

Petitioner testified that he had gone back to the car to get his gun because he was upset and angry, after having been "blindsided" by Milton Gordon (T-750-52). When petitioner got back to where the fight was, Gordon and Patrick Statham had a boy on the ground, and they were beating and kicking him (T-752-54). Petitioner was concerned that the boy was getting seriously hurt (T-753). Petitioner pointed his gun at Gordon (T-754). Gordon said to Statham "Hey, he got a gun, let's go"; he pulled Statham away and they started to leave (T-754). Bubba (Ralph Williams) jumped in between, and petitioner fired into the air (T-754). As Gordon and Statham ran, petitioner heard some more gunshots (T-755).

With regard to the person on the ground, the testimony of the state's witnesses once again covered the spectrum. According to Dianne Strawbridge, in deposition, Patrick Statham was not even involved in the fight (T-301-02). At trial, she testified that he was trying to break it up (T-302). According to Clarence Frazier, Statham was trying to break up the fight; he was not hitting someone who was on the ground (T-403-04, 410-11). Frazier did not recall testified in deposition on the Tuesday before trial that Statham was hitting and fighting with a "dude" who had grabbed his leg; the court reporter must be

lying if she wrote that down (T-404-05). But according to Milton Gordon, Patrick Statham "was beating up on" the guy on the ground, but he (Gordon) was not (T-473-74, 489-90, 504-505, 507). Gordon denied having said in his deposition taken a week earlier that "Patrick and I" were beating up on the guy (T-490-92), or, if he did say that, there could be a different explanation (T-403-04). The court reporter was subsequently called as a witness, and played a tape recording of Milton Gordon's deposition, in which he stated at least four times in succession that (after Patrick came over to help him and they "kind of took control" of the fight) "we" or "Patrick and I" were beating up on this individual (T-623-24). "I was -- we was just beating and knocking and I just never looked down to see who it was" (T-624).

At the conclusion of the testimony, the court advised the jury that closing arguments would not require more than an hour total, and it could decide whether to conclude the trial that night (Friday, May 31, 1985), or return the next day (Saturday, June 1, 1985) (T 839-41). The jury opted to stay and finish (T 844), and after a 10 minute recess (T 845), closing arguments commenced at 5:50 p.m. (T 846).

The court advised counsel: "contrary to my general policy", that closing arguments would be limited, to which the prosecutor responded by saying he needed 45 minutes, and petitioner's counsel, one hour (T 843). Petitioner objected to the limitation (T 845).

The prosecutor's first closing argument was rather brief (T 854-60), lasting nine minutes (T 886). Petitioner's counsel said he was tired and thanked the jury (T 860). He discussed the law relating to reasonable doubt and the burden of proof (T 861-62). He said the two issues to be decided were whether petitioner shot the victim (because there was a question in his own mind, depending upon whether the victim was shot in the back), and if he did, just what kind of homicide it was (whether second or third degree murder, manslaughter, or justifiable homicide) (T 862-63). He noted that the medical examiner found he was shot in the chest, and surmised that the victim was ducking down from his assailant (T 865-66).

Petitioner's counsel further discussed the positions of the parties as recalled by the various civilian witnesses, and noted that their recollection differed from that of the police officer (T 868-71). Counsel discussed whether petitioner had put his shirt back on (T 872-73). Counsel argued that all of the prosecution witnesses were students and good friends of the victim, who had coordinated their stories (T 873-75).

Counsel discussed the testimony of Clarence Frazier, and whether petitioner and "New York" were the same person (T 875-76). Counsel noted how teenage boys act and recalled the testimony about the fight between petitioner and Arthur Mitchell (T 878-80). Counsel noted the sizes of the participants in the fight and theorized that petitioner was justified in getting his gun in order to protect the boy on the ground, who was being beaten by the victim and the linebacker (T 880-82).

As counsel noted that the witnesses differed widely as to how many shots were fired, the court advised that his time was up, but granted two or three more minutes (T 883). Counsel stated that he had a reasonable doubt as to whether petitioner fired the bullet, but if he did, it was at most third degree rather than second degree murder, but then turned around and argued that petitioner did not shoot the fatal shot (T 884-85).

The court noted that petitioner's total argument consumed 36 minutes and granted the prosecutor an additional 24 minutes (T 886).

The jury retired for dinner (T 899) until 7:35, when it returned to receive its instructions (T 904-23), and then began deliberating at 8:13 p.m. (T 924). At 9:45 p.m., the jury asked to be reinstructed on the difference between second and third degree murder (T 926). The court decided to grant that request, and also instruct on manslaughter, because: "I feel it's incumbent to at least give all the degrees if I give any of them." (T 926-27). Petitioner requested reinstruction on justifiable and excusable homicide, to which the prosecutor objected, and the court agreed with the prosecutor (T 927).

The jury was instructed as indicated, and retired again at 10:00 p.m. (T 928-32). It returned its guilty verdict 16 minutes later (T 932-34).

IV SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner will argue in this brief that the court, over petitioner's timely objection, imposed an arbitrary and unreasonable time limitation of 30 minutes on petitioner's closing argument. Petitioner had requested one hour, and the prosecutor 45 minutes. Contrary to its stated policy, the trial court limited closing to 30 minutes, not based upon an assessment of the facts and circumstances of the case, but rather on a desire to complete the trial on Friday night, instead of holding a weekend session. The proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Petitioner will also argue in this brief that the trial court reversible erred in refusing to reinstruct on justifiable and excusable homicide when it reinstructed on manslaughter. Although the jury only requested reinstruction on the difference between second and third degree murder, the trial court proceeded to reinstruct on manslaughter as well, without a complete manslaughter instruction, and told the jury that it had complete instructions on all three offenses. The proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Petitioner will also argue in this brief that his guidelines departure sentence is illegal. The first reason for departure was properly struck below. The second depends upon both scored and unscored juvenile offenses and so lacks a proper factual basis. The third is founded upon a probation violation which was never proven, and which was assessed points on the scoresheet. The proper remedy is to remand for resentencing.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING AN ARBITRARY AND UNREASONABLE 30 MINUTE TIME LIMIT ON PETITIONER'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

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