0/a 2-989

್ಷ ಇವು ಕ್ಷ	i.e	赞		12.30
jus.	10	į.		
ŝ	1	15 54%	U _{arra}	
	Sid		19:31	r E

DEC 19 1983

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CLERK, SUPRÈME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CHARLES L. STOCKTON,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NUMBER: 72,921

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM A. HATCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #162540

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant below and will be referred to as petitioner. Respondent was the prosecution below and will be referred to as the State.

The one volume Record on Appeal will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page in parenthesis. The transcript will be referred to as "T" followed by the appropriate page in parenthesis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent hereby adopts the Statement of the Case and Facts as contained in petitioner's initial brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The thirty minute time limitation placed on closing argument did not unreasonably restrict or unfairly infringe upon the defendant's right to a fair trial. There is no hard and fast rule as to the amount of time to be afforded. Determination of what is reasonable is dependant upon the facts and circumstances of each case. Review of counsel's closing argument in conjunction with the allegation of what would have been argued with additional time does not reflect an abuse of judicial discretion.

It is not error for the trial judge to refuse to repeat the original jury instructions when the phrasing of the jury's request for reinstruction suggests a determination has already been made as to whether the homicide is lawful or unlawful. A jury's request for reinstruction as to the difference between second and third degree murder which results in reinstruction for second and third degree murder as well as manslaughter does not require that instruction also be given for justifiable and excusable homicide.

The reasons set forth by the trial court in support of a sentence above the presumptive guidelines recommendation are sufficiently clear and convincing to support the departure

sentence under State v. Mischler, No. 65,191 (Fla. April 3, 1986)
[11 F.L.W. 139] and Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158, 160 (Fla.
1985).

ARGUMENT

Issue I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING A THIRTY MINUTE TIME LIMIT ON PETITIONER'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

In it's opinion, the majority of the lower tribunal found that the limitation of petitioner's closing argument to thirty minutes was not unreasonable and not reversible error. The majority opinion was correct.

The State does not dispute the general principle that reasonable time should be afforded for argument to the jury. May v. State, 89 Fla. 78,80-81, 103 So. 115, 116 (1925), Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853 (1975). However, setting the length of time for counsel's closing argument involves trial court discretion and many complex factors not ascertainable from the cold record on appeal. Joseph v. State, 479 So.2d 870, 871 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) (J. Cowart, dissent). Consequently there is no "hard and fast rule" as to the amount of time which should be afforded. See, Hickey v. State, 484 So.2d 1271, 1273 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Cases reversed because of unreasonable restrictions upon closing argument have involved quite different circumstances from those presented in this trial. In <u>Joseph v. State</u>, 10 minutes was afforded a defendant charged with burglary and grand theft;

the State was given 12 minutes. In Cain v. State, 481 So.2d 546 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), the defendant, who endured a two day trial (not including jury selection) for two narcotic offenses which comprised 400 pages of transcript, was afforded 15 minutes. "arbitrary" curtailment was premised upon the court's "need to run his courtroom." Id. at 546. In Hickey v. State, argument in a 4 day murder trial in which the transcript totaled 900 pages (the testimony comprised 750 pages) was limited to 30 minutes. In Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 1058, 1060 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), 25 minutes of argument was deemed insufficient in a first degree murder trial raising a "novel and complex spouse abuse defense, combining theories of self-defense and temporary insanity." In Rodriguez v. State, 472 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), both parties requested 30 minutes, but only 15 minutes were afforded. Moreover the defense argument was cut off by the court when the allotted time had expired. Rodriguez was charged with burglary in a two day trial. In Stanley v. State, 453 So.2d 530 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), only 10 minutes of argument was extended to a defendant charged with burglary and grand theft in a joint trial with two co-defendants. In Pittman v. State, 440 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), seven defendants charged with unlawful assembly were represented by the same attorney and tried together in a 4 day trial involving 33 witnesses. The transcript totaled 700

pages. Argument limited to 30 minutes was held unreasonable. In <u>Foster v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), argument was limited to 15 minutes following a 3 day armed robbery trial in which the trial court felt that defense had "very little to talk about." In <u>May v. State</u>, twenty minutes was afforded a defendant charged with assault to commit murder.

What amounts to reasonable time for argument is dependant upon the facts and circumstances of each case. <u>Id</u> at 115; <u>Pittman</u> at 658. A limitation of 30 minutes was not considered to be an abuse of judicial discretion in <u>McDuffie v. State</u>, 55 Fla. 125, 46 So. 721 (1908). Here the trial, excluding jury selection, lasted 2 days and comprised approximately 700 pages of transcript. Compare, Cain, Hickney, Rodriguez, Pittman, Foster.

Review of counsel's closing argument in conjunction with the allegations in brief concerning what could have been argued with additional time does not reflect major discrepancies. <u>Id</u>. at 19-20, 20-22; T 860-886. In fact, review of counsel's argument indicates comprehensive coverage of the evidence adduced at trial and the defense theory of the case. Although counsel initially objected to the limitation, the extensive argument and grounds asserted in brief were never presented. Counsel did not proffer the areas which would have been covered with additional time.

The State submits that an abuse of judicial discretion has not been established. Reversal is not required.

Issue II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO REINSTRUCT THE JURY ON JUSTIFIABLE AND EXCUSABLE HOMICIDE WHEN IT REINSTRUCTED ON MANSLAUGHTER.

In its opinion, the majority of the lower tribunal found that there was no need to reinstruct on justifiable and excusable homicide when reinstructing on the residual homicide offense of manslaughter. This decision was correct.

Petitioner was charged with second degree murder. Upon completion of trial, the jury was instructed on second degree murder, third degree murder, aggravated assault and manslaughter (T 904-910). The jury was also instructed in the justifiable use of deadly force (self defense) as well as justifiable and excusable homicide (T 910-913). After retiring and deliberating for approximately one and one half (1½) hours, the jury submitted the following written request:

Please explain the difference between second and third degree murder again.

(T 926). The trial court repeated the entire instruction pertaining to unlawful homicide: second degree murder, aggravated assault and manslaughter. (T 927) The court felt "incumbent to at least give all the degrees if I give any of them." Id.

In discussing the jurors' request in this cause, counsel requested reinstruction on the lawful homicides of justifiable

and excusable homicide. (T 927) The State acknowledges the principle advanced in <u>Hedges v. State</u>, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965) and its progeny. However, this principle does not require reversal in the instant cause.

It is proper for a trial judge to limit the repetition of the charges to those specially requested by the jury as any additional instruction might heedlessly protract the proceedings. Hysler v. State, 85 Fla. 153, 95 So. 573 (Fla. 1923); Henry v. 359 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1978); Hedges v. State. The repetition of all the original instructions uppn a jury's request additional instruction on a particular point is exhausting and time consuming to all parties: the Court, the the prosecution and the defense. addition, the In protracted proceedings may deter future jury requests when the trial court is restrained from providing clarifying supplemental instructions on particular issues. Henry v. State, at 867.

In <u>Henry</u>, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed a conviction where the trial court did not reinstruct upon all degrees of homicide, but simply complied with the specific request of the jury. The jury requested clarification on the difference between first and second degree murder and the trial court complied reasoning that reinstruction as to other degrees of homicide was both unnecessary and potentially confusing. Id. at 866.

Distinguishing <u>Hedges</u>, the Florida Supreme Court failed to find an abuse of discretion when reinstruction was limited to a direct response to the jury's specific request. <u>Id</u>. at 867.

This principle was noted previously by this Court in Kelsey v. State, 410 So.2d 988, 989 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Kelsey's conviction was reversed based on the jury's specific request: the "complete definition of manslaughter" which this Court reasoned required both excusable and justifiable homicide.

The phrasing of the instant request suggested the jury had already determined whether the homicide was lawful or unlawful. This determination is further evidenced by their need to continue deliberation only 16 minutes beyond reinstruction. Under such circumstances, petitioner was not entitled to reinstruction of lawful homicide. Henry v. State at 868; Hunter v. State, 378 So.2d 845, 847 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). This precise point was addressed by the Florida Supreme Court. See, Henry at 868, n.2. See, Henry at 868, n.2. overruling Stills v. State, 272 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973).

Prior to reinstructing, Judge Southwood court emphasized that repeating a portion of the total reinstruction should not placed any greater emphasis on the portion repeated. The jury was cautioned to take the repeated instruction in totality with the earlier instruction. (T 928) Following reinstruction, this was re-emphasized. (T 931-932, 928-931)

The jury retired at 10:00 p.m. and sixteen minutes later indicated its verdict. (T 932) Reversible error is not present. Retrial is not in order.

Issue III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING A FORTY YEAR DEPARTURE SENTENCE BASED UPON THREE VALID REASONS FOR DEPARTURE.

The numerical computation on the guidelines scoresheet totaled 240 points. (R 98) Pursuant to the scoresheet, this point total carries a recommended guidelines range of 17 to 22 years imprisonment. A 40 year sentence was imposed and written sentencing order prepared by the trial court. (R 99-100)

It is well established that a judge is to be accorded wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence. Wasman v. United States, _____ U.S. _____ 104 S.Ct. _____, 82 L.Ed. 2d 424 430 (1984). It was not intended that judicial discretion be usurped by the enactment of the sentencing guidelines. Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985); Manning v. State, 452 So.2d 136 (Fla. 1984); Weems v. State, 451 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Murphy v. State, 459 So.2d 337 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

As case law surrounding sentencing guidelines issues evolves, it is evident that appellate courts must look to the circumstances of an individual case in order to assess whether the sentence imposed was appropriate. Assessment has centered on whether the departure from the presumptive sentence was predicated on "clear and convincing reasons." Rule 3.701(d)(11), Fla.R.Crim.P. The Florida Supreme Court set forth the following

standard of review for sentences departing from the guidelines recommendation:

An appellate court reviewing a departure sentence should look to the guidelines sentence, the extent of the departure, the reasons given for the departure, and the record to determine if the departure is reasonable.

Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158, 160 (Fla. 1985). The function of the appellate court is not to reevaluate the exercise of the trial court's discretion, but to determine whether there was an abuse of discretion.

In a more recent opinion, the Florida Supreme Court stated that to be "clear and convincing", reasons for departure must be credible and proven beyond a reasonable doubt and must be of such weight as to produce in the mind of the judge, a firm belief or conviction, without hesitancy, that departure is warranted. State v. Mischler, No. 66,191 (Fla. April 13, 1986) [10 F.L.W. 139, 140]. The court further defined the function of the appellate court in a guidelines case to be reviewed of the reasons given to support departure and determination as whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding those reasons to be clear and convincing. Id. Justice Ehrlich suggests there are two hurdles for the clear and convincing test: validity of the reason cited and establishment of the reason

beyond a reasonable doubt from the facts of the case. <u>Id</u>. at 140-141 (specially concurring opinion). The State submits the grounds set forth as justification for the departure sentence in this case pass the "clear and convincing" test of <u>Mischler</u>.

The written sentencing order sets forth sufficient clear and convincing reasons to warrant departure from the presumptive The first ground discusses (R 99-100, T 999-1001). Although such a the inadequacy of the presumptive sentence. finding was valid when relied upon by the trial judge, subsequent case law has labeled similar findings a reflection of the trial court's disagreement with the Sentencing Guidelines Commission. Scurry v. State, No. 67,589 (Fla. June 5, 1986) [11 F.L.W. 254, 256]; Jefferson v. State, No. BI-38 (Fla. 1st DCA June 6, 1986) [11 F.L.W. 1276, 1277]. Deterrence to those persons within a specific community was overruled in Scurry v. State, at p. 256, and Santiago v. State, 478 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1985). imposition of petitioner's sentence, this Court has rejected a similar general deterrence finding. Cason v. State, 481 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The State submits however that when this ground is viewed in conjunction with Ground Three, infra, the finding is valid. See Also, T999-1001.

Ground Two relies upon petitioner's prior juvenile record for which the trial court deemed the presumptive sentence inadequate. (R 99) The scoresheet reflects only two second degree felonies were included in the scoresheet calculation. (R 98; but see T 986-988) Petitioner was on parole for residential burglaries at the time he committed the murder. Id., R 85 Petitioner's prior convictions were from California. (T 966-967)

Petitioner's California juvenile record indicates a pattern of escalating criminal acts dating from age eleven (11). (T 967-968, 969; R 72-84) Juvenile convictions which are unscored on the guidelines computation may support departure. Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985); Nixon v. State, No. BC-196 (Fla. 1st DCA June 4, 1986) [11 F.L.W. 1264]. This factor does not violate Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. Moreover, the instant record certainly supports an escalating pattern of criminality. Patty v. State, No. BP-260 (Fla. 1st DCA March 13, 1986) [11 F.L.W. 653]; Fablo v. State, No. 85-166 (Fla. 2d DCA May 23, 1986) [11 F.L.W. 1193, 1194]. The finding is both valid and supported by the record as required by State v. Petitioner's initial brief omits reference Mischler. petitioner's re-sentencing where the California convictions were again discussed. (T 985-987)

The third ground addresses petitioner's possession of a firearm contrary to the conditions of his parole. (R 100) Petitioner challenges the finding as a departure based upon matters already factored into the presumptive sentence, citing Hendrix v. State, and as an inherent component of the offense. IB at 46-47. The State disagrees with petitioner's rationale.

Although the presumptive sentence was enhanced to a life felony because the jury found a firearm was used to commit the quidelines computation included points for murder and the petitioner's legal status (parole) at the time of the crime, the circumstances are separate from the trial court's finding. (R The trial judge emphasized petitioner's "possession and 100) ownership of the firearm" -- not the use of the firearm to commit "admitted violation of the terms of his an It was the use of the firearm in California parole" Id. committing the murder which was factored into the presumptive Likewise it was the legal status, i.e. the fact that sentence. petitioner was on parole, which caused enhancement of the In the third factor, the trial court presumptive sentence. considered not these factors, but the petitioner knowingly and purposefully violated a condition of his parole without which "the murder would not have occurred." (R 100; T 999-1000)

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